
Please note that by law this meeting can be filmed, audio-
recorded, photographed or reported electronically by the use 
of social media by anyone attending.  This does not apply to 
any part of the meeting that is held in private session.

Please ask for:
Marie Lowe

* Reporting to Cabinet

29 November 2018

Dear Councillor

You are requested to attend a meeting of the WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
CABINET HOUSING PANEL to be held on Monday 10 December 2018 at 7.30 pm in the 
Council Chamber, Council Offices, The Campus, Welwyn Garden City, Herts, AL8 6AE.

Yours faithfully

Corporate Director
Public Protection, Planning and Governance

A G E N D A
PART 1

1.  SUBSTITUTIONS 

To note any substitution of Panel Members in accordance with Council Procedure 
Rules 19 – 22.

2.  APOLOGIES 

3.  MINUTES 

To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 25 October 2018 
(previously circulated). 

4.  ACTIONS UPDATE (Pages 5 - 6)

Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) 
which lists the actions from previous meetings and their current status.

5.  NOTIFICATION OF URGENT BUSINESS TO BE CONSIDERED UNDER ITEM 14 

Public Document Pack



6.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To note declarations of Members’ disclosable pecuniary interests, non-disclosable 
pecuniary interests and non-pecuniary interests in respect of items on this Agenda. 

7.  PUBLIC QUESTION TIME AND PETITIONS 

Up to fifteen minutes will be made available for questions from members of the 
public on issues relating to the work of the Committee and to receive any petitions.

8.  MANAGING THE IMPACT OF UNIVERSAL CREDIT 

Presentation by Income and Home Ownership Manager, Simon Kiff on managing 
the impact of Universal Credit.

9.  PERFORMANCE REPORT FOR HOUSING PERIOD QUARTER 2 2018-10 
(Pages 7 - 10)

Report of the Executive Director (Housing and Communities) provides a summary 
of the strategic key performance indicators (KPIs), and comments about 
performance by exception for Quarter Two.  The KPIs are monitored monthly by 
Heads of Service.

10.  RENT ARREARS POLICY - COUNCIL TENANTS (Pages 11 - 26)

Report of the Corporate Director (Housing and Communities) seeking approval 
and adoption of a new Rent Arrears Policy which sets out the Council’s approach 
to recovering rent arrears.

11.  FORMER TENANT ARREARS POLICY (Pages 27 - 38)

Report of the Corporate Director (Housing and Communities) seeking approval 
and adoption of a new Former Tenant Arrears Policy which sets out the Council’s 
approach to recovering former tenant arrears on both Council (housing) tenancy 
and garage rent accounts.

12.  AFFORDABLE HOUSING PROGRAMME MONITORING REPORT DECEMBER 
2018 (Pages 39 - 62)

Report of the Corporate Director (Housing and Communities) providing an update 
on the Council’s Affordable Housing Programme (AHP).

13.  WORK PROGRAMME 2018/19 (Pages 63 - 64)

The pro-forma which sets out the Panel’s work programme has been updated 
since the last meeting to enable forward planning of items to be considered to take 
place. 

14.  SUCH OTHER BUSINESS AS, IN THE OPINION OF THE CHAIRMAN, IS OF 
SUFFICIENT URGENCY TO WARRANT IMMEDIATE CONSIDERATION 



15.  EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

The Panel is asked to resolve:

That under Section 100(A)(2) and (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press 
and public be now excluded from the meeting for item 16 (if any) on the grounds 
that it involves the likely disclosure of confidential or exempt information as defined 
in Section 100A(3) and Paragraph 4 (consultations or negotiations relating to 
labour relations) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the said Act (as amended). 

In resolving to exclude the public in respect of the exempt information, it is 
considered that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information. 

PART II

16.  ANY OTHER BUSINESS OF AN EXEMPT NATURE AT THE DISCRETION OF 
THE CHAIRMAN 

Circulation: Councillors J.Boulton (Chairman)
T.Kingsbury (Vice-Chairman)
M.Birleson
M.Cook
C.Gillett
S.Glick

M.Holloway
T.Jackson-Mynott
R.Lass
H.Quenet
F.Thomson

Co-opted Members:-
Tenants’ Panel Representatives

R.Read and B.Rhodes

Independent Representatives

R.Paris

Corporate Management Team
Press and Public (except Part II Items)

If you require any further information about this Agenda please contact Marie Lowe, 
Governance Services on 01707 357443 or email – democracy@welhat.gov.uk 

mailto:democracy@welhat.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Part I
Main author: Marie Lowe

Executive Member: Cllr Fiona Thomson
Not Ward Specific

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
CABINET HOUSING PANEL – 10 DECEMBER 2018
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING AND 
GOVERNANCE)

ACTIONS STATUS REPORT

1 Executive Summary

In order to ensure that actions identified at meetings are completed, this report lists the 
actions from the meeting of the Cabinet Housing Panel on 25 October 2018, those 
responsible for completing each action and their current status.

2 Recommendation(s)

2.1 That Members note the status of actions which were identified at the 
25 October 2018 meeting of the Committee.

Minute Action Responsible
Status/
Date Completed

17. Affordable Housing Delivery - 
Review Of Strategic Approach Head of Community 

and Housing 
Strategy

On the agenda for this 
meeting.
 

20. Housing Operations 
Transformation Programme 
Update

Head of Housing 
Operations

An update report to be 
brought to the meeting of 
the Panel in January 
2019.

41. Disabled Facilities Grant 
Funding And Use Of Better 
Care Fund

Head of Community 
and Housing 
Strategy

The use of the set aside 
capital receipts of £672,000 
towards funding the 
modernisation programme 
of council owned sheltered 
housing was agreed to be 
incorporated into the 
2019/20 budget process by 
the Cabinet at its meeting 
on 6th November 2018.

42. Social Housing Green Paper 
"A New Deal For Social 
Housing" – Consultation

Head of Community 
and Housing 
Strategy

The response to the Social 
Housing Green Paper has 
been submitted to 
Government.

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



Main author: Tony Bullimore
Executive Member: Nick Pace
Wards: All

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
CABINET HOUSING PANEL – 10 DECEMBER 2018
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES)

PERFORMANCE REPORT FOR HOUSING PERIOD QTR TWO - 2018-19

1 Executive Summary

1.1 The attached report provides a summary of the strategic Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs), and comments about performance by exception. The KPIs are 
monitored monthly by Heads of Service.

2 Recommendation(s)

2.1 It is recommended that the Panel note the contents of the attached report.

3 Explanation

3.1 The KPIs being reported, as shown in Appendix A, are the corporate KPI’s 
published in the council’s Action Plan for 2018/19. 

3.2 The first part of the report shows the results for each KPI and how performance 
compares against target and tolerance. Each result is assessed and highlighted 
either as red, amber or green. 

3.3 The second part includes comments by exception, relating to any KPIs 
highlighted as either red or amber.

Implications

4 Legal Implication(s)

4.1 All controls are in place to manage legal implications.

5 Financial Implication(s)

5.1 There are no new financial implications as a result of this report. Robust arrears 
management is essential in maximising income. 

6 Risk Management Implication(s)

6.1 No new risks identified. All controls are in place. 

7 Security and Terrorism Implication(s)

7.1 There are no security and terrorism implications arising from this report

8 Procurement Implication(s)

Page 7

Agenda Item 9



8.1 There are no procurement implications arising from this report.

9 Climate Change Implication(s)

9.1 The Decent Homes standard for council housing stock and private sector housing 
directly affect climate change and are monitored within these KPIs.    

10 Human Resources Implication(s)

10.1 There are no human resources implications arising from this report

11 Health and Wellbeing Implication(s)

11.1 Several of the KPIs impact on the wellbeing of housing applicants, Lifeline 
customers and tenants.

12 Communication and Engagement Implication(s)

12.1 Performance information is reviewed by the Tenants Panel, and communicated 
with customers through Your Voice newsletter.

13 Link to Corporate Priorities

13.1 Each of the KPIs is a corporate published KPI and include the corresponding 
reference used for performance clinic reports.

14 Equality and Diversity

14.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has not been carried out in connection with 
the proposals that are set out in this report as the recommendation does not 
require a policy or service change.

Name of author Tony Bullimore
Title Business Excellence Team
Date 1st Dec 2018

Page 8



PI No.
Report 

Frequency Performance Measure TARGET TOLERANCE
Qrt1 

2018-19
Qrt2

2018-19
Qrt3 

2018-19
Qrt4

2018-19
Source 
Value

Year to 
Date Last Year

29 Quarterly

The maximum number of households 
living in temporary accommodation in the 
borough (where the council have a duty)

75 80 108 117 117 117 81

128.0%

30 Quarterly
The number of Decent Homes 
assessments undertaken in properties in 
the Private Sector

125 123 142 136

126 Houses 
in Multiple 

Occupation/
10 single

136 100

22.1%

31 Quarterly
The percentage of housing repairs where 
work was completed right first time

90.0% 88.0% 92.5% 93.3% 4326 92.9% 94.1%

32 Quarterly
The percentage of housing repairs 
appointments made and kept 95.0% 90.0% 96.5% 97.8% 7588 97.1% 96.8%

33 Quarterly

The percentage of council tenants 
‘satisfied’ overall with the responsive 
repairs service provided (based on the last 
repair completed)

92.0% 90.0% 92.4% 90.2% 305 91.3% 95.5%

34 Quarterly
The percentage of council properties with 
a valid gas safety certificate 100.00% 99.95% 99.97% 99.99% 8752 99.98% 99.99%

35 Quarterly
Current council tenant arrears as a 
percentage of the annual rent debit 1.80% 2.00% 2.79% 2.78% £1,309,498 2.78% 2.31%

36 Quarterly
Number of evictions (due to rent arrears) 
as % of homes in management 
(cumulative)

0.08% pqrt/ 
0.3% pa

0.1% pqrt/ 0.4% 
pa

0.03% 0.12% 11 0.12% 4

37 Quarterly
The average void property re-let time for 
standard general needs council homes in 
days

18.0 20.0 21.6 20.0 51 20.0 21.2

38 Quarterly

The average time in minutes for a mobile 
warden to attend an address in response 
to an Emergency Alarm call from the 
resident 12.00 13.00 10.50 10.13 380 10.13 11.00

                        Cabinet Housing Panel Performance report Appendix 
Oct 2018

H
ou

si
ng

 &
 C

om
m

un
iti

es

COMMUNITY & HOUSING STRATEGY

HOUSING PROPERTY

HOUSING OPERATIONS

P
age 9



COMMUNITY & HOUSING STRATEGY
KPI 29 - The maximum 
number of households 
living in temporary 
accommodation in the 
borough (where the 
council have a duty)

Requirement for temporary accommodation for homeless households continues to exceed current capacity in our 2 sites, and we continue to draw on 
General needs housing stock to deal with some of the surplus (26 properties are now being used). Hotel/B&B is being used for 12 households that we don’t 
currently have suitable housing for. 

We are exploring other sites to be used as temporary accommodation, including the use of former sheltered accommodation that is scheduled for rebuilding, 
in order to initially reduce and finally remove the need to use hotels.

HOUSING OPERATIONS
KPI 35 - Council tenant 
arrears as a % of rent 
debit 

Quarter 2 performance has improved slightly with a positive direction of travel in performance of 2.78% against quarter 1 performance of 2.79%. 

Throughout this period, Universal credit arrears increased by £102K, but this increase being offset by a reduction in non-UC case arrear levels. Current number 
of tenants in receipt of UC is 562 with 465 in arrears (82.74%). UC case arrear levels are currently 10.3% totalling £309K, showing a positive trend compared to 
quarter 1 performance (11.2%). 

The income team is now fully staffed and are all working hard to maintain and improve arrears performance and this has been show through quarter 2. We 
continue to support and advise our residents of their commitments and use the support from DWP and CAB offered.

Throughout Quarter 3 we expect the wider service reviews to be completed and new processes to be taking place to promote early action, support and 
intervention.

COMMENTS BY EXCEPTION

KPI 36 - Number of 
evictions (due to rent 
arrears) as % of homes 
in management 
(cumulative)

There were 8 evictions carried out in Quarter 2 with a year to date total of 11. We continue to provide / offer support and try to assist our households in 
arrears, whilst we manage the arrears cases in a in a robust but fair way. We only consider eviction as a last resort having explored and offered all avenues of 
support, intervention and opportunity to repay the outstanding debt.

We have noted a firmer line being taken by the courts on rent arrears which is also a contributory factor.

CO
M

M
EN

TS
 B

Y 
EX

CE
PT

IO
N

P
age 10



- 1 -

Part I
Main author: Simon Kiff
Executive Member: Nick Pace 
All Wards

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
CABINET HOUSING PANEL – 10 DECEMBER 2018
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES)

RENT ARREARS POLICY – COUNCIL TENANTS

1 Executive Summary

1.1 This report recommends the approval and adoption of a new Rent Arrears Policy 
set out in Appendix A

1.2 The aim of the policy is to set out the council’s approach to recovering rent 
arrears in order to be as effective as we can be in minimising tenant debt and 
maximising rental income from council tenancies. 

1.3 This policy will be applied in a firm, but fair way, underpinned with early contact 
and support through the whole recovery process in order to prevent arrears from 
accruing and to ensure that a tenant can receive the right advice at the earliest 
opportunity and offered at every opportunity.  

1.4 The Tenants Panel have already been consulted and provided comments which 
have been incorporated into the draft policy.

2 Recommendation(s)

2.1 Members recommend to Cabinet the adoption of the Rent Arrears Policy (as set 
out at Appendix A).

3 Explanation

3.1 This Rent Arrears Policy applies to all tenants who have a Secure Tenancy, 
Flexible Tenancy or Non Secure Tenancy with Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council. 

3.2 This policy does not apply to leaseholders (including equity share properties). 

3.3 The policy sets out the council’s approach to recovering rent arrears, taking into 
account best practice and legislative guidance but adopting a firm but fair 
approach to maximising council housing rental income. 

3.4 The total annual rent debit for council tenancies is approximately £49 million.

3.5 The specific objectives of the Rent Arrears Policy are to:

 Effectively collect rent due minimising debt for tenants and to maximise 
income.

 Offer comprehensive support to tenants to sustain their tenancies at all 
stages of the recovery process.

 When appropriate, take legal action swiftly to minimise arrears increasing, 
ensuring action is proportionate and adheres to all legislative requirements, 
i.e. Pre-Action Protocol.

Page 11

Agenda Item 10



- 2 -

3.6 The Pre-Action Protocol for Possession based on rent arrears applies to 
residential possession claims by social landlords (such as local authorities) 

3.7 The Protocol sets out a code of good practice for social landlords and private 
registered providers in the collection of rent arrears. The Protocol encourages 
more contact between landlords and tenants.

3.8 The aims of the Protocol are:

(a) To encourage more pre-action contact and exchange of information between 
landlords and tenants;
(b) To enable the parties to avoid litigation by settling the matter if possible; and
(c) To enable court time to be used more effectively if proceedings are 
necessary.

3.9 Rent payments are due in advance in accordance with council tenancy 
agreement. 

3.10 Maximising our income enables the council to meet its financial obligations and 
continue to invest in improving services to tenants. 

3.11 We will contact tenants as soon as their rent account falls into arrears to ensure 
we can identify support at an early stage to ensure we can offer the most 
appropriate support. 

3.12 Eviction will only be considered as a last resort and only after approval from two 
tiers of manager. 

3.13 Rent money owed to us by people who are no longer our tenants are to be dealt 
with in line with the Former Tenants Arrears Policy.  

Implications

4 Legal Implication(s)

4.1 Pre-Action Protocol (part of the Civil Procedure Rules) applies to residential 
possession claims by social landlords (such as local authorities, Registered 
Social Landlords and Housing Action Trusts) and private registered providers of 
social housing. Part 2 relates to claims which are based solely on claims for rent 
arrears. The protocol does not apply to claims in respect of long leases or to 
claims for possession where there is no security of tenure.

4.2 Possession will be sought under Ground(s) 1 of Schedule 2 to the Housing Act 
1985 - ‘Any rent lawfully due from the tenant has not been paid or the obligation 
of the tenancy has been broken or not performed’.

4.3 Possession on Ground 1 for secure tenancies is at the discretion of the courts.  

4.4 For non-secure tenancies, the council is not required to prove any statutory 
ground to gain possession, but we must serve a valid Notice to Quit where a 
licensee has up to 28 days or more in arrears and has not responded to our 
efforts to make contact, or has broken their agreement to repay arrears. We will 
ensure its use is proportionate.

Page 12



- 3 -

5 Financial Implication(s)

5.1 The current annual rent debit for council tenancies is approximately £49 million. 

5.2 Current arrears outstanding are £1,370,000 as at the end of September 2018.

5.3 Arrears for Universal Credit cases totals £309,000. 

5.4 Failure to collect rent and manage arrears effectively will require an increase in 
bad debt provision in the Housing Revenue Account.

6 Risk Management Implications

6.1 The Rent Arrears Policy provides clarity on how the council manages rent arrears 
and support residents in sustaining their tenancies. It ensures a clear and 
consistent approach and sets out our legal obligations.  

6.2 The policy ensures that the council is not incurring either a reputational or legal 
risk from not having a clear, up to date policy.

7 Security and Terrorism Implication(s)

7.1 There are no implications arising from this policy.

8 Procurement Implication(s)

8.1 There are no implications arising from this policy.

9 Climate Change Implication(s)

9.1 There are no implications arising from this policy.

10 Human Resources Implication(s)

10.1 There are no implications arising from this policy.

11 Health and Wellbeing Implication(s)

11.1 There are no implications arising from this policy.

12 Communication and Engagement Implication(s)

12.1 This policy has been reviewed by Tenants Panel and any comments have been 
taken into account.

13 Link to Corporate Priorities

13.1  The subject of this report is linked to two of the five Council Corporate Priorities: 

1) Our Housing

2) Our Council

14 Equality and Diversity

14.1 An EqIA was completed on 12th October and no negative impact was identified 
on any of the protected groups under Equalities legislation.

Page 13



- 4 -

Name of author Simon Kiff ext. 2067
Title Income and Home Ownership Manager
Date 18th October 2018

Appendices:

Appendix A – Rent Arrears Policy

Page 14



Version 1

Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council

Rent Arrears Policy

Scope:
This policy applies to all tenants who have a Secure 
Tenancy, a Flexible Tenancy or a Non Secure Tenancy 
with Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council. 

Effective Date: TBC

Review Date: 2022 

Signed Off : Cabinet on XXXX

Author: Income Team Leader and Home Ownership Manager

Policy Owned by: Income and Home Ownership

Statute

Housing Act 1988
Equality Act 2010
Data Protection Act 2018
Welfare Reform Act 2012
Pre-Court Action Protocol – Civic Procedure Rules 

National Standards N/A

Page 15



                                     

Rent Arrears 2018 2 

Rent Arrears Policy
1 Scope

1.1 This policy applies to all tenants who have a Secure Tenancy, Flexible Tenancy or 
Non Secure Tenancy with Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council. 

1.2 This policy does not apply to leaseholders (including equity share properties) 

1.3 Rent money owed to us by people who are no longer our tenants is dealt with in line 
with the Former Tenants Arrears policy.  

2 Policy Statement

2.1 The aim of the policy is to set out the council’s approach to recovering rent arrears in 
order to be as effective as we can be in minimising tenant debt. This policy will be 
applied in a firm but fair way, underpinned with early contact and support in order to 
prevent arrears from accruing and to ensure that a tenant can receive the right advice 
at the earliest opportunity.  

2.2 Rent payments are due in advance in accordance with council tenancy agreement. 
We aim to ensure value for money by adopting a robust procedure to maximise our 
income to enable the council to meet its financial obligations. 

2.3 The specific objectives of the Rent Arrears Policy are to:

 Effectively collect rent due and maximise income.

 Offer comprehensive support to tenants to sustain their tenancies at all stages of 
the recovery process.

 When appropriate, take legal action swiftly to minimise arrears increasing 
ensuring action is proportionate and adheres to all legislative requirements, i.e. 
Pre-Action Protocol.

3 Our Approach

3.1 Rent is a priority debt and must be paid without exception. It is one of the most 
important bills a tenant has to pay.

3.2 It is the tenant’s responsibility to pay the rent in full, in advance and on time. This is 
clearly set out in the tenancy agreement.

3.3 The council expects tenants rent accounts to be in advance at all times during their 
payment cycle, e.g. if a tenant pays their rent monthly, they should be one month in 
advance, so that the rent account is never in debt. Where a rent account is in arrears 
only because payment patterns do not match the council’s weekly accounting 

Page 16



                                     

Rent Arrears 2018 3 

periods, the council will work with tenants to enable them make extra payments to 
bring their account into advanced payment. This includes tenants in receipt of 
housing benefit or Universal Credit.

3.4 We will provide full information on how and when to pay rent when the tenancy 
agreement is signed. We also explain the consequences of not paying rent and what 
debt support services are offered locally. Where support issues are identified at a new 
tenancy sign-up, we will refer tenants for local support to either specialist council 
officers or Citizen Advice. 

3.5 The council’s preferred method of payment is Direct Debit, but we will offer multiple 
payment methods for tenants to pay their rent. If rent is not paid, it becomes arrears. 
This is a debt that tenants owe to us as their landlord.

3.6 We take arrears very seriously, even when it is just a small amount. Arrears can put a 
tenant’s home at risk. Arrears also mean that we have less to spend on important 
services to tenants’ homes.

3.7 Rent statements will be provided/accessible to all tenants on a regular basis and at 
every stage of the arrears recovery process.

3.8 We encourage tenants to speak to their Income Officer at an early stage if they are 
experiencing difficulties with paying their rent.

Taking court action

3.9 We will take tenants to court to ensure that they pay us arrears that are owed   after 
reasonable attempts have been made to engage with the tenant to settle the debt. 
This is a serious step and will result in the tenant having to pay for court costs. If 
bailiffs are involved, their costs will have to be paid by the tenant as well.

3.10 We will follow the steps laid out by the Civil Justice Commission’s Pre-Action Protocol 
when court action is being taken.

How we can help

3.11 We understand that times can sometimes be difficult. This makes it more important 
that payment of rent is prioritised by tenants. Once rent arrears start to build they can 
become difficult to repay.

3.12 We are willing to help tenants who are in arrears. It is essential that we contact the 
tenant as early as possible and that the tenants speak to us as soon as they are in 
difficulties.

3.13 We can signpost tenants to Citizen’s Advice Bureau. This is very important when 
tenants are trying to pay multiple debts.

Page 17



                                     

Rent Arrears 2018 4 

3.14 We expect arrears to be paid in full, but will on a case by case basis come to an 
arrangement with tenants to repay arrears.

3.15 There are many ways we can offer support. This includes advice on employment and 
training.

3.16 We will offer multiple options for tenants to pay their rent such as:

 Direct Debit
 Online payments
 Internet banking payments
 Telephone payments
 Standing order
 Pay Point (Used when making payments in newsagents, garages, etc)
 Council employees can pay through salary
 Cheque

3.17 Direct Debit is the council’s preferred method of payment. 

Early Contact

3.18 We will contact tenants as soon as their rent account falls into arrears. We expect that 
tenants will work with us to sort out the debt. We expect that tenants will put things 
right at this early stage.

Low level or static debt

3.19 We take even small arrears seriously.

3.20 We will take firm action on low level debt. This is to protect our income and to protect 
the tenant falling into further arrears and financial difficulties.

3.21 This may also apply to small debts which may have been sitting on the rent account 
for a long time (static debt), even when they are not increasing.

3.22 We may serve notice and take legal action to recover money we are owed, where it is 
cost effective to do so.

Benefits

3.23 We know that benefit payment problems can lead to arrears. It is important that 
tenants talk to us straight away if this is the case.

3.24 We may not start court proceedings where arrears are because of an outstanding 
benefit claim. This is only where a tenant can evidence that they have a genuine 
chance of getting benefits and has provided all the information required.

3.25 We expect tenants to be paying any rent due which is not covered by Housing 
Benefit.

Page 18



                                     

Rent Arrears 2018 5 

3.26 Tenants in receipt of Universal credit are expected to make payments to cover the full 
weekly rental charge where they receive the benefit payments direct to themselves.

3.27 All tenants receiving benefits, are expected to be in advance with their rent payments, 
in the same way as tenants do not receive any benefits.

Vulnerable tenants

3.28 There is no standard definition of what is meant by the term ‘vulnerable’. We will try to 
identify potential vulnerabilities as early as possible to enable us to offer the right 
support. Examples may include tenants with disability, drug or alcohol dependencies, 
mental health or elderly.

3.29 We will work in partnership with tenants, voluntary organisations and other support 
providers to offer extra support and guidance. We can signpost to agencies that offer 
support that is tailored to tenants’ circumstances.

3.30 Equality Impact Assessments will be carried out to identify support needs through the 
arrears recovery process and services tailored to meet the needs of individuals where 
appropriate. 

3.31 While we accept that vulnerable tenants may need additional support, we still expect 
rent to be paid on time and arrears repaid quickly.

Joint tenants

3.32 Both tenants are ‘jointly and severally’ responsible for paying the full rent and for any 
rent arrears. This means that if one joint tenant does not pay, the other is fully liable.

3.33 This will still be the case where universal credit is only paid to one tenant, or where 
one joint tenant has left the property.

Staff

3.34 The council will train its staff in procedures to recover rent arrears. Continuous 
training will be available on legal updates, housing law, welfare benefit/reform 
updates, equality and diversity, safeguarding and any other relevant topic which will 
impact on collecting rental income. 

3.35 Staff will provide tenants with welfare and housing benefits advice. They will also offer 
basic debt advice in order to support tenants to sustain their tenancy.

Garages

3.36 If tenants owe more than 4 weeks rent on their council home, where the garage 
tenancy agreement allows, we will seek to take action to recover their council rented 
garage. This is due to rent arrears being a priority debt and should take precedent 
over other rental charges. 

Page 19



                                     

Rent Arrears 2018 6 

3.37 Action to recover the garage will be taken (serving of a Notice to Quit) if the rent 
arrears on the council home remains outstanding, even if garage rent is up to date.

4 Taking Legal Action: Serving a Notice of Seeking Possession (NOSP)

4.1 Notices will be served for arrears where tenant(s) are 28 calendar days/ 4 weeks or 
more in rent arrears. 

4.2 We will normally serve the notice by post, but where appropriate we will serve by 
hand at the tenants’ home address.

4.3 We can serve notice after a shorter time and reserve the right to do this in exceptional 
circumstances, e.g. where a tenant fails to make payments towards static or low level 
arrears less than 4 weeks rent.

4.4 We will still serve a notice even if an arrangement has been made if the arrears 
remain more than 4 weeks.  This is to protect the council’s interest in the debt owed.

4.5 We may still serve a notice where benefit eligibility has been established, but a tenant 
is not making payments towards any rent arrears owed.

4.6 We may delay serving a notice where the vulnerability of the tenant means that there 
are significant support issues.

Secure Tenancy (including Flexible Tenancy)   

4.7 We will seek possession under Ground(s) 1 of Schedule 2 to the Housing Act 1985 - 
‘Any rent lawfully due from the tenant has not been paid or the obligation of the 
tenancy has been broken or not performed’.  

4.8 The notice is valid for 12 months from the date it becomes ‘live’, unless the tenant 
clears the arrears before it become live.

 A notice will be re-issued after the 12 months lapse if the arrears remain and no court 
action has been taken.

Notice to Quit (NTQ) – Non- Secure Tenancy and Licensees

4.9 We will serve a Notice to Quit where a licensee has up to 28 days or more in arrears 
and has not responded to our efforts to make contact, or has broken their agreement 
to repay arrears. We will ensure its use is proportionate.

5 Court Action

5.1 We will apply to court for a possession order where:

 The tenant has refused to get in contact with us.

 The tenant has not come to an agreement with us.

Page 20



                                     

Rent Arrears 2018 7 

 The tenant has come to an agreement with us, but has not kept to it.

 Arrears are not reducing.

We will apply to court for a possession order once the notice has expired and will 
notify the tenant before applying to court. We will take into account the personal 
circumstances of the tenant before applying to court.

Adjournments

5.2 We may adjourn a case on terms if we can make an agreement with the tenant before 
any court hearing and the agreement is made and maintained prior to the court 
hearing.

5.3 Under the Housing Acts 1985 there is a duty on the court to impose some form of 
payment on the tenant on making an adjournment, save where it would be 
unreasonable. We will always ask for repayment terms when agreeing to any 
adjournment.

Court orders

5.4 We will consider the tenant’s circumstances when deciding to seek a possession 
order, including:

 Ability to repay the debt.

 Their benefit situation.

 Their payment history.

5.5 We will usually seek either a Suspended Possession Order (SPO) or an Outright 
Possession Order (OPO) from the court. 

5.6 A money judgement will always be sought with any possession order, in addition to 
an order for costs incurred.

Alternative payment orders

5.7 Alternative ways of seeking payments may be used. However, we will not use 
distraint / seizure of goods.

Attachment of earnings

5.8 The tenant’s employer may be empowered to make regular deductions from the 
tenant’s earnings and pay them directly into their rent account.

Insolvency Arrangements – Bankruptcy, Individual Voluntary Arrangements 
(IVA) and Debt Relief Orders (DRO)

5.9 Where a tenant has an insolvency arrangement they remain liable to pay current rent 
as usual.

Page 21



                                     

Rent Arrears 2018 8 

5.10 We do not have to write off rent arrears where bankruptcy has occurred. We may deal 
with repayment of rent arrears in line with this policy, and follow standard procedures 
for recovery action where arrangements are not kept to.

5.11 The main feature of a DRO is a ban (called a moratorium) which prevents creditors 
pursuing debts for a period of 12 months. Tenants with a DRO are still liable to pay 
current rent, and any rent arrears incurred after the DRO has been made are not 
covered by the moratorium. We will deal with repayment of these arrears in line with 
this policy.

Eviction

5.12 The council will only seek to evict as a last resort. 

5.13 No eviction can take place without both Team Leader and Manager approval. This is 
something we take very seriously. We will only carry out an eviction where a county 
court bailiff is present and we will work with the bailiff to ensure that it is done as 
sensitively as possible.

5.14 We will send written notification of the date of the eviction to both the tenant and the 
council’s housing needs team.

5.15 We will advise all tenants to seek independent legal advice following our approval for 
officers to apply for an eviction.

6 Joint Working

6.1 Officers will work closely with internal and external partners to ensure that cases are 
being dealt with in a prompt and efficient manner, so that the rent account is 
maintained and payments are being made in a timely manner.

6.2 Partnership arrangements will be adopted where possible to ensure a comprehensive 
support service is in place for tenants in arrears or experiencing financial difficulties.

7 Loss of Rights for Tenants in Arrears

7.1 Tenants in arrears will not usually be allowed to move home via the transfer list. (See 
the council’s Allocations Policy).

7.2 Tenants in arrears may not be able to carry out tenancy changes such as mutual 
exchanges and creating joint or sole tenancies, etc. until the arrears are cleared.

7.3 If a tenant is in arrears, any compensation or redress payments will be offset against 
their arrears with any remaining money due payable to the tenant.

Page 22



                                     

Rent Arrears 2018 9 

8 Contacting the Income Team

8.1 Tenants can contact us in a number of ways, including by phone, email, 
online, in person or by letter. 

8.2 Tenants can also check their rent account online through the council website.

9 Review of Decision and Complaints

9.1 Any tenant who is not satisfied with the manner in which the council or its 
contractor(s) has dealt with the service they have received regarding the Income 
Management Service has the right to have their case investigated.

9.2 The tenant should follow the council’s complaint procedure if they wish to make a 
complaint.

10 Monitoring

10.1 We are committed to operating a successful rent collection service. 

10.2 Officers will monitor arrears cases every week, identify the source of arrears and take 
action as appropriate and in accordance with the Rent Arrears Recovery Procedure. 

10.3 The Team Leader will monitor performance weekly, reviewing targets and actions 
regularly to ensure compliance with policy and procedures and that there is a 
consistent approach to arrears recovery. 

10.4 We will regularly review our policy, procedures and correspondence.

11 Data Protection

11.1 Council staff will adhere to the principles of the Data Protection Act 2018 when 
discussing or sharing tenant’s information with external agencies. 

11.2 When sending documents electronically by email which contain confidential 
information the documents will be encrypted to protect the content and information. 

11.3 Regular updates and training will be given to ensure staff are fully aware of their 
responsibilities relating to data protection.

12 Equality and Diversity

12.1 The council will treat all customers and staff with fairness and respect. We value 
diversity and work to promote equality and tackle unlawful discrimination. 

12.2 We are committed to helping customers to access information about their homes and 
services in a way that suits individual needs.

Page 23



                                     

Rent Arrears 2018 10 

12.3 We will meet the requirements relating to equality and diversity laid down in the 
Equality Act 2010 by working to: 

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation 

 Advance equality of opportunity and 

 Foster good relations between all of our residents, service users and staff. 

12.4 The council is committed to welcoming and valuing diversity, promoting equality of 
opportunity and tackling unlawful discrimination. We will not discriminate against staff, 
customers or others based on their sex, sexual orientation, marital status, pregnancy 
and maternity, gender reassignment, race, religion, belief, disability or age 
(collectively referred to as protected characteristics in the Equality Act 2010).

12.5 The council aims to provide homes and services that meet the diverse needs of 
customers. We believe that all customers should be able to access housing, support 
and care services with the same ease and that the quality of our service is the same 
high standard for all. 

Page 24



                                     

Rent Arrears 2018 11 

Related Documents
Document Link

Connected Policies:
Equality and Diversity Policy
Allocations Policy
Tenancy Policy

Forms and Letters: N/A

Leaflets: Rent Arrears – Tenants Guide (TBC)

Version history
Version no. 1 Date effective: TBC

Full / partial review? New Policy

Brief summary of changes: New Policy

Staff consultation (teams): Housing and Communities, Income and Home 
Ownership

Resident consultation: Tenants Panel 

Approved By Cabinet / Council: TBC

Author: Kathy Robertson/Simon Kiff – Income Team Leader /  
Income and Home Ownership Manager

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

Part I
Main author: Simon Kiff
Executive Member: Nick Pace 
All Wards

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
CABINET HOUSING PANEL – 10 DECEMBER 2018
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES)

FORMER TENANT ARREARS POLICY

1 Executive Summary

1.1 This report recommends the approval and adoption of a new Former Tenant 
Arrears Policy set out in Appendix A.

1.2 The aim of this Policy sets out the council’s approach to recovering former tenant 
arrears on both council (housing) tenancy and garage rent accounts. 

1.3 A new dedicated staff member is in place to prioritise former tenant debts. This 
new post was created as part of the wider Housing Operations Transformation 
Programme.

1.4 We will be proactive in collecting Former Tenant Arrears (FTA), using a range of 
methods in a flexible, but fair and consistent way. We will use the methods which 
are considered to be the most effective on a case by case basis and that deliver 
value for money.

1.5 It is important to effectively recover former tenant debts to ensure that the council 
is maximising income to continue to deliver services.

1.6 The Tenants Panel have already been consulted and provided comments which 
have been incorporated into the draft policy.

1.7 Write-offs will be managed effectively, only being proposed for write-off once all 
avenues for tracing and collecting have been exhausted.

1.8 Recommendation(s)

1.9 It is recommended that members:

1.10 Recommend to Cabinet the adoption of the Former Tenant Arrears Policy (as set 
out at Appendix A).

2 Explanation

2.1 This policy applies to all tenants who have a Secure Tenancy, Flexible Tenancy 
or Non Secure Tenancy with Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council. 

2.2 This policy does not apply to leaseholders (including equity share properties). 

2.3 The development of this policy follows the service review delivered by the 
Housing Operations Transformation Programme. A specialist post was created in 
the new structure to prioritise former tenant debt recovery. 

Page 27

Agenda Item 11



- 2 -

2.4 We are focused on preventing FTA. While a tenant is living in their home we will 
work with them to try and prevent them falling into arrears wherever possible. 
This will include providing debt, benefit or general money advice or signposting 
where necessary. This is in line with the new proposed Rent Arrears Policy.

2.5 FTA refers to rent arrears left by a tenant whose tenancy has ended and they no 
longer live in their home. This policy applies to all former tenant accounts 
including rent arrears, court cost, garage rent arrears, non-secure arrears, 
rechargeable arrears and use and occupation charges.

2.6 Maximising our income enables the council to meet its financial obligations and 
continue to invest in improving services to tenants. 

2.7 Following initial actions to recover the debt by the FTA and Sundry Debt Officer, 
where efforts have proven unsuccessful, we will use a debt collection agency to 
support the effective tracing of tenants and collection of former tenant debts. 

2.8 Offering a percentage discount off the total debt payable is a useful tool and 
good practice to encourage former tenants to clear debts quickly. Discounts of up 
to 25% can be offered, with higher discounts above 25% approved by the Head 
of Housing Operations. 

2.9 Write offs will be completed only once all avenues have been taken to try and 
collect the outstanding debt. Write-offs will be submitted for approval periodically 
as follows:

a) Up to £1,000, recommendation for write off to be made by the Income 
and Home Ownership Manager for Head of Resources to sign off.

b) Between £1,000 and £5,000, recommendation for write off to be made 
by the Head of Housing Operations for Head of Resources to sign off.

c) Between £5,000 and £10,000, recommendation to be made by the 
Corporate Director of Housing and Communities for Corporate Director 
(Resources, Environment and Cultural Services) in the capacity as the 
Council’s S151 Officer to sign off.

d) Over £10,000 must be approved by Cabinet
2.10 Clear write-off authorisation amounts are set out in the policy and are in line with 

the council’s Financial Regulations and the draft Corporate Debt Policy

2.11 A cleansing exercise is required to ensure the recoverable debt is collectable. 
Where it is identified not to be the case, the debt will be written off.

2.12 Where a credit is left on a former tenant account, we will be proactive in trying to 
locate the former tenant and repay any money owed to them.

Implications

3 Legal Implication(s)

3.1 All reasonable attempts should be made with the debtor to settle the debt prior to 
commencing legal proceedings. The requirements for the Pre-Action Protocol for 
Debt Claims came into force on 1 October 2017 and applies to public bodies.  

Page 28



- 3 -

3.2 The appropriateness of legal action will be considered where the address of the 
former tenant is known. The costs of court action will need to be balanced 
against amounts to be recovered. 

3.3 We will consider the most appropriate course of legal actions to recover any 
money due, except warrant of control of goods. 

3.4 Legal action will only be taken where we have taken reasonable action to collect 
the debt, but have been unsuccessful and we feel court action will be effective.

3.5 When a Money Claim Online is made, any legal fees incurred by the council will 
be added to the former Tenants arrears.

4 Financial Implication(s)

4.1 The total amount of collectable debt at the end of October 2018 is approximately 
£781k.

4.2 The team are targeting a 10% collection rate (£78k) which if delivered will cover 
the full costs of resourcing this service. 

4.3 Debt levels, write-offs and collection performance will be monitored on a monthly 
basis to ensure delivery of value for money.

4.4 Commission of 18% is payable to the council’s partner debt collection agency. 
Any commission costs incurred will be covered from existing budgets. 

5 Risk Management Implications

5.1 The Former Tenant Arrears Policy provides clarity on how we collect FTA Debt.

5.2 The policy ensures that the council is not incurring either a reputational or legal 
risk from not having a clear, up to date policy.

6 Security and Terrorism Implication(s)

6.1 There are no implications arising from this policy.

7 Procurement Implication(s)

7.1 There is a service level agreement in place with a debt collection agency, of 
which longer term we will look to review.

7.2 Any review or tender and procurement of a new supplier will be compliant with 
the council’s Contract Procedure Rules.

8 Climate Change Implication(s)

8.1 There are no implications arising from this policy.

9 Human Resources Implication(s)

9.1 There are no implications arising from this policy.

10 Health and Wellbeing Implication(s)

10.1 There are no implications arising from this policy.

Page 29



- 4 -

11 Communication and Engagement Implication(s)

11.1 This policy has been reviewed by Tenants Panel and any comments have been 
taken into account.

12 Link to Corporate Priorities

12.1  The subject of this report is linked to 2 of the 5 Council Corporate Priorities: 

1) Our Housing

2) Our Council

13 Equality and Diversity

13.1 An EqIA was completed on 12th October and no negative impact was identified 
on any of the protected groups under Equalities legislation.

Name of author Simon Kiff ext. 2067
Title Income and Home Ownership Manager
Date 18th October 2018

Appendices:
Appendix A – Draft Former Tenant Arrears Policy

Page 30



Version 1
APPENDIX A

Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council

Former Tenant Arrears Policy
Scope: This policy applies to all former council tenants of Welwyn 

Hatfield Borough Council. 

Effective Date: TBC

Review Date: 2022 

Signed Off : Cabinet on XXXX

Author: Income and Home Ownership Manager

Policy Owned by: Income and Home Ownership

Statute

Housing Act 1988
Equality Act 2010
Data Protection Act 2018
Welfare Reform Act 2012

National Standards N/A

Page 31



Former Tenant Arrears
1 Scope

1.1 This policy applies to all tenants who have a Secure Tenancy, Flexible Tenancy or 
Non Secure Tenancy with Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council (the council). 

2 Statement

2.1 Former Tenant Arrears (FTA) refers to rent arrears left by a tenant whose tenancy 
has ended and they no longer live in their home. It applies to all former tenant 
accounts including rent arrears, court cost, garage rent arrears, non-secure arrears, 
rechargeable arrears and use and occupation charges.

2.2 Collection of FTA is important to the council. Any debts owed to the council greatly 
reduce the level of service we can provide to our tenants. We will be proactive in 
collecting Former Tenant Arrears (FTA), using a range of methods in a flexible, but 
fair and consistent way. We will use the methods which are considered to be the 
most effective on a case by case basis and that deliver value for money.

3 Policy

Prevention of Former Tenant Arrears

3.1 The council is focused on preventing FTA. While the tenant is living in the home we 
will work with them to try and prevent them falling into arrears wherever possible, 
managed in line with the council’s Rent Arrears Policy. This will include providing 
debt, benefit or general money advice where possible. We will also signpost to 
relevant agencies that can advise the tenant if we are unable to do so.

Contacting Former Tenants and Tracing

3.2 The Sundry Debt and Arrears officer is responsible for collecting FTA. 

3.3 We understand the importance of acting promptly to increase collection of FTA. The 
relevant officer will identify FTA at an early stage and contact the former tenant. We 
will contact former tenants using a variety of methods. 

3.4 Where we have no up to date contact details on the former tenant or we need more 
information we will use tracing to try and locate the former tenant. Tracing is the 
method of finding a person’s contact details. 

4 Former Tenant Debt Collection

4.1 The council understands that each case of FTA is different and the same collection 
methods will not be suitable for all cases. The officer will consider on a case by case 
basis what collection method(s) would be the most effective and the best value for 
money. 

Page 32



4.2 We have a flexible approach to collection and the officer should regularly review the 
case to see if using different collection methods may be more successful.

Debt Collection Agency (DCA)

4.3 The council will use a DCA when we have been unsuccessful in collection or tracing 
the former Resident. The DCA will return the case after 3 months if no arrangement 
has been made.

4.4 Where appropriate and more cost effective, we will use in house tracing process 
using a compliant third party service.

Court Action

4.5 We will begin court action where we have taken reasonable action to collect the debt, 
but this has been unsuccessful and we feel court action will be effective. We will 
always inform the former tenant of our intention before beginning court action. 

4.6 We do not condone or employ the use of seizure of goods / distraint as a tool for 
collecting former tenant arrears, either directly, or via any employed agent.

5 Repayment Arrangements

5.1 We understand that sometimes it is not possible for the former tenant to pay the full 
FTA immediately. In such cases we will agree to a repayment plan. The aim is for the 
former tenant to pay the arrears as quickly as they can, but the officer should ensure 
any repayment plan is affordable for the former tenant.

5.2 When agreeing the repayment plan with the former tenant, the officer will consider 
the former tenant’s financial circumstances and what they can afford to pay. An 
income and expenditure sheet (budget assessment) will be completed with the 
former tenant for all repayment arrangements.

5.3 If a tenant with rent arrears is transferred to another council property on management 
grounds, for example, serious anti-social behaviour or domestic violence, terms to 
clear the former tenant debt should be agreed and confirmed before the move takes 
place and included in the new property tenancy agreement.

Missed payments

5.4 Where a repayment plan is in place but a payment is missed, we will contact the 
former tenant within seven days to ask them to immediately make the missed 
payment. If they are unable to do so then any repayment plan and/or discount may 
be removed and collection may immediately begin for the full amount. 

Discounts

5.5 The officer may offer a discount of up to 25% to help the former tenant clear their 
debt quickly and as one lump sum. A discount is only offered for debts over £200 and 
once a budget assessment has been completed.

Page 33



5.6 The amount of discount and the number of instalments offered must be authorised by 
an officer’s line manager. 

5.7 In exceptional circumstances, discounts of more than 25% may be offered where the 
decision has been authorised by the Head of Housing Operations.

5.8 Total discounted debt is to be cleared within three months of the confirmed written 
agreed discount.

5.9 The total amount of discounted debt which remains outstanding after the agreed debt 
amount has been cleared will be written off following the write-off approval process in 
section 6.

6 When to Write-Off Debts

6.1 Every effort will be made to recover debts. Action to trace the former tenant and 
recover the debt will be taken before giving consideration to be recommended for 
write-off. 

Debts under £50

6.2 When the debt is under £50 the FTA will be approved for write-off by the officer’s line 
manager as it is deemed as uneconomical to pursue / collect.

Circumstances of 
Debt

Debt £50.00 - £199.99 Debt £200 and above 

Tenant dies with 
no successor or,
Tenant moved 
into residential 
care.

Write off if there has been no response 
from executor/debtor within 28 days of 
sending a letter, or if there are insufficient 
funds to pay.

Write off if there has been no response 
from executor/debtor to two letters within 
56 days, or there are insufficient funds.

Tenant has left 
property for any 
other reason

Contact former tenant and/or Next of Kin 
(NOK) if we have their details. If not then 
carry out in-house tracing. If tracing is 
successful then start collection. If tracing 
is unsuccessful case will be forwarded to 
DCA for Trace and collect.  If DCA unable 
to contact for 3 months debt to be 
returned and written off.

Where in-house tracing has been 
unsuccessful, refer to external Debt 
Collection Agency (DCA). 
The contractor in all cases where no 
arrangement has been made within 3 
months from date of receipt of the case 
from the Council shall return the case to 
the Council.
If returned then carry out in-house tracing 
every 13 weeks.  
Where there has been no success after 
one year, FTA will be written off.

Extra information 
for evicted 
tenants

We are aware that if the former tenant has been evicted and has not already re-paid 
the FTA after receiving a Court order then it may be difficult to recover the FTA. 
However, often former tenants’ circumstances change and they may become in a 
position to repay their FTA when previously they were not.  The officer will carry out in-
house tracing to check the former tenant’s circumstances and then begin collection 
action as appropriate. 

Page 34



Debts over £50

6.3 Write-Off of arrears up to £1,000 to be recommended by the Income and Home 
Ownership Manager for Head of Resources to sign off.

6.4 Write-Off of arrears between £1,000 and £5,000 to be recommended by Head of 
Housing Operations for Head of Resources to sign off.

6.5 Write-Off of arrears between £5,000 and £10,000 to be recommended by Corporate 
Director of Housing and Communities for Corporate Director (Resources, 
Environment and Cultural Services) in the capacity as the Council’s S151 Officer to 
sign off.

6.6 Write-Off of arrears over £10,000 must be approved by Cabinet.

Statute Barred 

6.7 The debt is over six years old, no legal action has been taken and there has been no 
contact with the debtor within a six year period.  

6.8 If a former tenant approaches us for re-housing at any time we will reinstate any FTA 
previously written off, unless the debt has been written off as statute barred. 

7 Disputes

7.1 The council will seek to resolve any disputes about the amount of FTA owed in a 
prompt and fair manner. 

7.2 When disputing the amount of FTA owed, it is the former tenant’s responsibility to 
provide evidence to support their claim, such as receipts proving the rent they have 
paid.

8 Former Tenant Credits

8.1 For up to six years after a tenant leaves their property with any size of credit on their 
rent account we will make regular attempts to try and return this to the former tenant 
or Next of Kin (NOK). After six years we will not proactively attempt to return this, but 
if a former tenant or NOK contacts us and requests repayment of this amount, we will 
re-pay this amount in full (minus any other money owed to us, e.g. for rechargeable 
repairs).

8.2 If despite our attempts the FTC is unclaimed after 6 years, the time limit for suing the 
council for this sum will have expired and the council will ‘write-on’ these amounts 
back into our budgets. 

9 Contacting the Income Team

9.1 Tenants can contact us in a number of ways, including by phone, email, online, in 
person or by letter. 

Page 35



9.2 The council’s service standards set out the time frame of when customers will receive 
a response.

10 Review of Decision and Complaints

10.1 Any tenant who is not satisfied with the manner in which the council or its 
contractor(s) has dealt with the service they have received regarding the income 
management service has the right to have their case investigated.

10.2 The tenant should follow the council’s complaint procedure if they wish to make a 
complaint.

11 Monitoring

11.1 We are committed to operating a successful FTA collection service. 

11.2 Officers will monitor FTA accounts every month and take action as appropriate and in 
accordance with the FTA Recovery Procedure. 

11.3 The Team Leader will monitor performance weekly, reviewing targets and actions 
regularly to ensure compliance with policy and procedures and that there is a 
consistent approach to arrears recovery. 

11.4 We will regularly review our policy, procedures and correspondence.

12 Data Protection

12.1 Council staff will adhere to the principles of the Data Protection Act 2018 when 
discussing or sharing tenant’s information with external agencies. 

12.2 When sending documents by electronically by email which contain confidential 
information the documents will be encrypted to protect the content and information. 

12.3 Regular updates and training will be given to ensure staff are fully aware of their 
responsibilities relating to data protection.

13 Equality and Diversity

13.1 The council will treat all customers and staff with fairness and respect. We value 
diversity and work to promote equality and tackle unlawful discrimination. 

13.2 We are committed to helping customers to access information about their homes and 
services in a way that suits individual needs.

13.3 We will meet the requirements relating to equality and diversity laid down in the 
Equality Act 2010 by working to: 

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation 

 Advance equality of opportunity and 

 Foster good relations between all of our residents, service users and staff. 

Page 36



13.4 The council is committed to welcoming and valuing diversity, promoting equality of 
opportunity and tackling unlawful discrimination. 

13.5 We will not discriminate against staff, customers or others based on their sex, sexual 
orientation, marital status, pregnancy and maternity, gender reassignment, race, 
religion, belief, disability or age (collectively referred to as protected characteristics in 
the Equality Act 2010).

13.6 The council aims to provide homes and services that meet the diverse needs of 
customers. We believe that all customers should be able to access housing, support 
and care services with the same ease and that the quality of our service is the same 
high standard for all. 

Page 37



Related Documents
Document Link

Connected Policies:
Equality and Diversity Policy
Complaints Policy
Rent Arrears Policy

Forms and Letters:

Income and Expenditure Sheet, Agreement to Pay form, Write off/on 
form, insufficient funds form, FTA recovery 1 letter, FTA recovery 2 letter, 
FTA NOK 1 letter, FTA NOK 2 letter, FTA residential care 1 letter, FTA 
residential care 2 letter, FTA Before Court action letter,  FTA DCA 
recovery letter, Missing Re-Payment Arrangement letter, FTA in credit 1 
letter, FTA in credit 2 letter

Leaflets: N/A

Other: N/A

Version history
Version no. 1 Date effective: TBC

Full / partial review? New Policy

Brief summary of changes: New Policy

Staff consultation (teams): Housing and Communities, Income and Home 
Ownership

Resident consultation: Tenants Panel 

Approved By Cabinet / Council: TBC

Author: Simon Kiff – Income and Home Ownership Manager

Page 38



- 1 -

Part I
Main author: Jeremy Morton 
Executive Member: Nick Pace
All Wards

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
CABINET HOUSING PANEL– 10 DECEMBER 2018
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (HOUSING AND COMMUNITY)

AFFORDABLE HOUSING PROGRAMME MONITORING REPORT DECEMBER 2018

1 Executive Summary

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the council’s Affordable 
Housing Programme (AHP). Updates will be provided to this committee twice a 
year. 

2 Recommendation(s)

2.1 It is recommended that the Committee note the content of this report.

3 Explanation

3.1 At their meeting of the 4th December 2012 Cabinet agreed a range of methods to 
deliver the council’s Affordable Housing Programme (AHP) and that a monitoring 
report should be presented to this committee, setting out the budget and 
progress in delivering new affordable homes.  An overview of progress to date 
are attached at Appendix A and B.

3.2 The AHP is managed via an officer project group which meets monthly and 
overseen by a steering group which meets bi – monthly. The Leader of the 
council is a member of the steering group, which provides strategic direction, 
considers the budget and recommends any reallocation of funds between 
different delivery methods as required.

3.3 A strategic review of the Affordable Housing Programme was completed in 
February 2016 and in June 2016 Cabinet approved the proposed Vision 
Statement, key aims and a delivery plan to deliver 600 affordable homes by 
2021.  The attached appendices provide an overview and update on progress 

Implications

4 Legal Implication(s)

4.1 The council has signed an agreement with the government to deliver the AHP 
using the available Right to Buy Receipts in accordance with the rules in the 
agreement.

5 Financial Implication(s)

5.1 The budget for the programme is monitored through the normal budgetary control 
reports and by a detailed review every six months to CHP.

Page 39

Agenda Item 12



- 2 -

6 Risk Management Implications

6.1 The affordable housing Programme has a risk management strategy in place 
which is regularly monitored by the project and steering group with separate risk 
registers for each initiative and project.

6.2 The programme is highlighted on the council’s Corporate Risk Register.

7 Security & Terrorism Implication(s)

7.1 There are no direct security and terrorism implications in this report or the 
Affordable Housing Programme 

8 Procurement Implication(s)

8.1 There are no direct procurement implications in relation to this report 

9 Climate Change Implication(s)

9.1 The delivery of new affordable homes provides mechanisms for a range of 
products and initiatives that help reduce carbon emissions and tackle fuel 
poverty. New homes are built to high standards that help address climate change 
concerns including CO2, water and waste reduction; use of local labour and 
transport and modern methods of construction all consider the green footprint.

10 Link to Corporate Priorities

10.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priority 3 Meet the 
borough’s housing needs and specifically to the council’s statutory requirements 
under the Homelessness legislation.

11 Equality and Diversity

11.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has not been carried out in connection with 
this report, as this is for information only. An EIA is in place for the AHP and EIAs 
are carried out for specific initiatives and projects that are part of the AHP as 
required.

Name of author Jeremy Morton Extension 2723
Title Principal Housing Development Manger
Date 28 November 2018

Background papers to be listed 

Cabinet report 4th December 2012

Cabinet report 14th June 2016 Strategic Review Affordable Housing Programme

Appendix A     Affordable Housing Programme Overview 

Appendix B     Affordable Housing Programme Monitoring

Page 40



Affordable Housing Programme Overview November 2018

1

Appendix A
Affordable Housing Programme Overview November 2018

Completed Schemes 28 November  2018 Status/Total Numbers 
Delivered

Cherry way  new build Funding  to Paradigm Housing Completed  4

Elizabeth Close new build Funding to Welwyn Garden City HA Completed 3

Sir Fredrick Osborn new 
build

Funding to High Town Praetorian Completed 5

Phase 1 former garage site 
disposals to Registered 
Provider new build

Funding to Welwyn Garden City HA Completed 17

Open Market Purchase A mixture of two, three and four bedroom houses, 
now managed by the council
88x3bh  ( 17 being former HMO properties)
24x2bh/ flat
5x2bb
9x4bh

Completed 126

Open Market Purchase RP One and two bedroom flats purchased with grant 
funding

Completed 5

Lilac close / Furzen 
Crescent 

7 x 2 bed houses  owned and managed by the 
council 

Completed 7

Conversion of Registered 
Provider property from 
shared ownership to rent 
Essendon

1 x 2 bed family unit Completed 1

Limetree court / Garden 
Avenue

14x 2bed flats (one fully adapted wheelchair units)  
6 x 1 bed flats 

22

total Completed 190

P
age 41



Affordable Housing Programme Overview November 2018

2

Current Schemes 
- targets

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 Progress to date (November 2018 )

Open market 
purchase Council

35 
(15 

completed 
already)

27 15 15 purchased,14 offers accepted,  
5 further offers accepted with  legal 
instructions to be made

On target 20

Council 
acquisition - 
block

54 Council looking to purchase a 
block which was a former office 
and has been converted to 
residential.

On target 54

Phase Two 
garage site 
disposals to RP

16 5    Not 
applicable

Planning secured.
Sites tendered to Registered 
Provider (RP) Framework group; 
Bids evaluated and WGCHA 
selected. 
Hillcrest and Cowper Road 
completed. Great Gannet and The 
Firs on site (18 units)
Land transfer for The Firs being 
progressed (2 units)
Birchwood close site - revised 
planning application approved 
November 18.
Little Gannet revised planning 
application  approved November 
18 

On target 21

Phase 3 former 
garage sites and 
land 

To be 
agreed

Initial feasibility work complete, 
further detailed work/ 

Target numbers and 
dates to be set.

To be 
agreed

P
age 42



Affordable Housing Programme Overview November 2018

3

Current Schemes 
- targets

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 Progress to date (November 2018 )

searches/surveys to be agreed and 
undertaken. 

Delivery approach to be 
agreed 

Northdown Road 
– direct 
construction for 
council 

8 8 Not 
applicable

Taylor French delivering.  
Currently on site.

On target
 

16

Little Mead – 
direct 
construction for 
council 

Not 
applicable

7 Not 
applicable

Planning secured.  Potter Rapier 
Partnership constructing.   Start on 
site in July. Full demolition 
commenced in November 18

On target.  7

Minster House 

Sheltered 
Housing direct 
construction for 
council

Not 
applicable

Not 
applica

ble
75/80

Currently decanting main block 
and adjacent bungalows.  Mini 
competition competed to selected 
architect to progress to full 
planning.  Site surveys underway 
and pre-application prepared 

On target 75/80P
age 43



Affordable Housing Programme Overview November 2018

4

Current Schemes 
- targets

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 Progress to date (November 2018 )

Howlands House  
Direct 
construction  by 
the council 

65 Likely 
to be 

completed 
in 2021/22

Agreement on demolition and re 
provision of new temporary 
accommodation.  Planning 
submission anticipated March 
2019 with procurement for 
construction partner to follow 

On target 65

Onslow school 
site - funding to 
RP

15 In negotiation with Home group to 
provide additional homes on a 
wider residential development of 
87 homes. 
Planning application  approved 
October 18   
S106 agreement completed. 
Further detailed discussions with 
Home Group and construction 
partner to review costs and 
seeking to exchange contract with 
the school this financial year. The 
intention is to seek a start on site 
in quarter 1 2019.  
  

On target 15

Total 273/278

P
age 44



1 
 

Appendix B 
 
Affordable Housing Programme (AHP)  
 

AHP Progress November  2018 
 (schemes underway and at various stages of development ) 

 
 

Total units 

Phase 2 garage infill schemes  
The council submitted planning applications for a second phase of affordable 
homes on former garage sites disposed to the councils Registered Provider 
framework group. All six schemes are being progressed by Welwyn Garden 
City Housing Association with construction underway and completion mainly 
during 18/19.  Due to some unknowns at the tender stage and subsequent new 
information not available prior to planning, revisions to the Birchwood Close 
and Little Gannet schemes were required and new applications are now 
approved. 
 
The Hillcrest and Cowper Road sites are now complete. Land transfer and a 
start on site with demolition commenced at Breakmead/ Great Gannet and The 
Firs and initial work progressed. 
 
Knightsfield / the Firs:   2 x 2 bedroom bungalows 
Little Gannet :                1 x 2 bed house 
Birchwood close :         1 x 2 bed house and 1 x 3 bed house 
Cowper Road WGC:    3 x 2 bed bungalows 
Breakmead  WGC:       5 x 3 bed houses  
Hillcrest Hatfield :         8 x 2 bed houses 
 
Examples below : 
Hillcrest site prior to start on site. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
21 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 45



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Little Ganett 1 x 2 bed house 

 
Birchwood Close 2 x 
2 bed houses  

Page 46



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cowper Road 3 x 2 bed 
bungalows 

Page 47



 
 
 

 
 
 
Cowper road nearing completion and completed  landscaping 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 48



Breakmead/Great Gannet  
 

 
 
 
Breakmead / Great Ganett  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 49



 
On site at Hillcrest 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 50



 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 51



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 The Firs - garages demolished  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 52



 
 
New bin store in place  
 
 
 
 
 
Site Plan the Firs 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 53



 
Phase 3  development proposals  
 
As part of the AHP a further package of sites are being considered for possible 
development either by our Registered Providers or for direct delivery by the 
council. 
 
Work is ongoing to agree suitable deliverable sites. The programme 
anticipates the council will seek planning approvals prior to a tender of the 
package to partners or direct construction by the council. 
 
Currently two sites have completed formal pre app advice prior to any planning 
submissions. These may provide 8 new houses (4 on each site)  
 
 
 
Council Direct Construction 
 
The Council obtained planning approval on two former garage sites at Garden 
Avenue and Furzen Crescent in Hatfield. Mears New Homes were selected to 
construct both schemes. Construction is complete at both Furzen Crescent 
and Garden Avenue. The flats and houses are for rent and owned and 
managed by the council. 
 
Properties have now all been let and occupied and new tenants made 
selections of tenant’s choice items prior to moving in. 
 
Garden Avenue – “Lime Tree Court” and  Furzen Crescent –“ Lilac Close “ 
were submitted for the Hertfordshire Building Futures awards and  from the 
eight schemes selected by the judges for the Design Excellence shortlist  the 
council won the category award on the 4th October  
 
The judges’ comments included “The quality of design and thought sets a 
precedent for the council development, showing what a pared down functions 
play on traditional forms can achieve. Small is beautiful”  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
20 plus 
TBC  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 54



Garden Avenue – Lime Tree Court 
 

 
 
     
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
22 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 55



 
 

 
 
       
Northdown Road  
 
A planning application for the provision of 16 new self-contained flats in 
Northdown Road Hatfield, on the site of existing low demand bedsits, received 
approval in October, scheme tendered and Taylor French to construct.  
Demolition completed on a phased  approach to  2 blocks; a range of  pre-
construction  complexities have been resolved  that included  utility ( electric  
services ,)  asbestos and fire safety  issues. The flats will be for rent and 
owned and managed by the council 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
16 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 56



 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Northdown Road, Hatfield 
16 x 1 bed flats 

Page 57



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
16 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 58



 
 
 
 
Council and RP Open Market Purchases 
At the time of writing, the total number of properties now purchased is 126. Our 
target for 2018/19 is to purchase a further 20 properties. We currently have 14 
offers accepted. Our RP partners are not actively seeking to secure properties 
themselves due to market conditions and property values, but should a 
suitable opportunity arise it will be considered.  
 
The council will consider the direct purchase of flats itself if the opportunity 
offers benefits in cost and other considerations.  
 
Little Mead Hatfield   
 
The planning application was approved on the 17th August 2017 and  
procurement for a construction partner completed in February 2018, with a 
recommendation from the members procurement board agreed at the April 
Cabinet to appoint FSG Property Services Ltd. The scheme will deliver 4 x 3 
bed houses and 3 x 2 bed houses for rent, to be owned and managed by the 
council. A meet the builder event has been held and initial start on site 
achieved.  Demolition of the vacant garages has now commenced following 
the removal of BT cables.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
35 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 

Little Mead 4 x 3 
bed and 3 x 2 
bed houses 

Page 59



 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Further Opportunities 
 
Onslow site Hatfield  

 
The Council is working with Home Group as part of their proposal to deliver 
87 homes on part of the Onslow school site in Hatfield. A minimum of 30% 
of these homes should be delivered as affordable and part of the planning 
requirement, without grant.  Evidence has demonstrated the scheme 
cannot support the full 30% requirement. The council will consider funding 
to secure additional affordable units. Currently the council and Home Group 
are working on agreement to purchase 15 x 2 bed room houses. 
The legal documents (S106) has been completed and planning approval 
formally provided. Home are seeking to exchange contracts with the school  
by December and a start on site  1st quarter 2019 

 
 
Retirement housing Minster House, Hatfield  
 

Following the completion of the Older Person Housing survey and 
strategy one of the objectives is to deliver a new purpose built “older 
person” housing scheme.  A suitable site at Minster House was agreed  
and consultation  completed with those impacted by the proposals  
 
Arrangements to decant, find alternative accommodation, removals 
arranged, packing and pay Home loss payments are ongoing and are 
almost complete.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
15 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 60



A mini competition was completed between the council’s architect frame 
work group and Rock Townsend selected to take the project forward to 
detailed planning submission.      
 
Formal pre application has been received and necessary variation to the 
proposals being prepared. 
 
Current anticipated planning application March 2019 
 
 

Temporary  accommodation 
Howlands House, WGC 

 
Following detailed discussion with the housing options team and work 
by architects, Pellings, formal pre-application advice has been received 
on proposals to provide a new purpose built temporary accommodation 
and replacement for Howlands House in WGC. Following pre app 
advice the proposed scheme requires amendments and a planning 
application is being prepared.  
 
Various surveys are being undertaken as part of the process in 
preparation for a planning submission March 2019.  
 
The aim will be to prepare for procurement seeking a construction 
partner as soon as possible after a planning approval  
 
 

           Burfield Close  
 
Following the strategic review of the council’s sheltered housing 
schemes the opportunity to redevelop Burfield close is being explored. 
A cabinet report is to be considered in January to update on the 
outcome of consultation with residents  and proposals for future use of 
the site  
 
  
Office to Residential  opportunity  
 
The opportunity to secure a recently completed office to residential 
building is being progressed and a Cabinet report considered in 
December. 
 
The building offers immediate use for temporary accommodation 
requirements and possible future alternative use. The building provides 
54 completed units  
 
Currently due diligence is being carried out ( surveys/valuations and 
construction method)  and the  current offer made to the owner is 
subject to contract and findings  
 

 
 
70 – 80  
TBC 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
TBC 
 
70 – 75 
Cluster / 
shared facility 
units  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
40 (est) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
54 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 61



Direct purchase from a developer 
 
The council is negotiating the option of purchasing off plan from a 
private developer, to provide 30 properties on a scheme to be 
constructed. The current intention is that the developer will construct the 
units in accordance with planning approval and the council will  agree a 
relevant internal specification to meet our requirements.  
The proposal is subject to due diligence and legal agreement. 
A cabinet report will be considered on the 4th December 18. 
 
 
A range of other development schemes and initiatives are being 
considered and CHP will be updated as these progress. 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
30 

 

Page 62



CABINET HOUSING PANEL WORK PROGRAMME 2018/19 

DATE OF 
MEETING 

REPORTS REPORT AUTHORS
SERVICE AREAS

16 January 2019 
 Housing Operations Transformation Programme Update
 Focus on temporary accommodation
 Housing and Homelessness Strategy
 Burfield Close, Hatfield

Stuart Pearson

Sian Chambers
Sarah Newman

11 March 2019  End of year report for housing property and operations - a sort of 
‘review of the year’.  It will be a presentation and report.  Please can 
you put on the forward plan for April/May (whenever the meeting falls 
after year end)

 Update on housing delivery project/intro to Housing Revenue Account 
Business Plan (Invite Red Loft)

 Update on housing delivery project

 Quarter 3 KPIs 2018/19

Simone Russell (verbal update)

Lucy Aston

P
age 63

A
genda Item

 13



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 ACTIONS UPDATE
	9 PERFORMANCE REPORT FOR HOUSING PERIOD QUARTER 2 2018-10
	10 RENT ARREARS POLICY - COUNCIL TENANTS
	10a - Rent Arrears Policy - Final Draft 181018

	11 FORMER TENANT ARREARS POLICY
	11a - Former Tenant Arrears Policy - FINAL 221118

	12 AFFORDABLE HOUSING PROGRAMME MONITORING REPORT DECEMBER 2018
	12 - AHP Appendix A
	12b - AHP Appendix B

	13 WORK PROGRAMME 2018/19

